
Please ask for Rachel Appleyard
Direct Line: 01246 34 5277
Email  committee.services@chesterfield.gov.uk

The Chair and Members of Cabinet

7 January 2019

Dear Councillor,

Please attend a meeting of the CABINET to be held on TUESDAY, 15 
JANUARY 2019 at 10.30 am in Committee Room 1, Town Hall, Rose Hill, 
Chesterfield, the agenda for which is set out below.

AGENDA

Part 1(Public Information)

1.   Declarations of Members' and Officers' Interests relating to items on the 
Agenda 

2.   Apologies for Absence 

3.   Minutes (Pages 3 - 6)

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 
18 December, 2018.

4.   Forward Plan 

Please follow the link below to view the latest Forward Plan.

Forward Plan

5.   Delegation Report (Pages 7 - 8)

Public Document Pack

http://chesterfield.moderngov.co.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=134&RD=0&bcr=1


6.   Minutes of the Sheffield City Region Mayoral Combined Authority (Pages 
9 - 16)

To note the Minutes of the meeting of the Sheffield City Region Mayoral 
Combined Authority held 29 October, 2018.

Items Recommended to Cabinet via Cabinet Members

Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing and Cabinet Member for Homes 
and Customers

7.   Revised Corporate and Housing ASB Policies Following Stakeholder 
Consultation (Pages 17 - 60)

Cabinet Member for Homes and Customers

8.   Annual HRA Rent and Service Charge Setting (Pages 61 - 84)

Deputy Leader

9.   Collection Fund Revised Estimates 2018/19 (Pages 85 - 90)

Yours sincerely,

Local Government and Regulatory Law Manager and Monitoring Officer



CABINET 18.12.18
1

CABINET

Tuesday, 18th December, 2018

Present:-

Councillor P Gilby (Chair)

Councillors Bagley
Blank
Brunt

Councillors T Gilby
Huckle
Ludlow

Non Voting 
Members

Catt Dickinson

*Matters dealt with under the Delegation Scheme

76   DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' AND OFFICERS' INTERESTS 
RELATING TO ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 

No declarations of interest were received.  

77   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A Diouf, J Innes 
and Serjeant.

78   MINUTES 

RESOLVED –

That the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 4 December, 2018 be 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

79   FORWARD PLAN 

The Forward Plan for the four month period 1 December, 2018 to 31 
March, 2019 was reported for information.

*RESOLVED –

That the Forward Plan be noted.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



CABINET 18.12.18
2

80   CHESTERFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL’S RESPONSE TO THE HS2 
WORKING DRAFT ENVIRONMENTAL STATEMENT (WDES), AND 
THE WORKING DRAFT EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (WDEIA) 

The HS2 Project Manager presented a report seeking approval for the 
Council’s proposed responses to HS2 Limited’s consultation on two 
working draft documents: the Environmental Statement (WDES) and the 
Equality Impact Assessment (WDEIA). 

The purpose of the consultation was to identify possible conflicts between 
the design, construction and operation of the line, and the areas and 
communities that the proposed HS2 railway line will come into contact 
with.

The responses to the consultation were largely supportive of the 
proposed HS2 project and focussed on three main areas: strategically 
important considerations, design and environmental considerations and 
issues which require further information from HS2 Ltd.

The Council’s responses to the WDES and WDEIA were attached as 
Appendices A and B of the officer’s report and would need to be 
submitted to HS2 Ltd by 21 December, 2018.

*RESOLVED –

1. That the draft responses to the HS2 Working Draft Environmental 
Statement and Working Draft Equality Impact Assessment, attached 
as Appendices A and B of the officer’s report, be approved and 
submitted to HS2 Limited by 21 December, 2018.

REASON FOR DECISIONS

To progress the HS2 Growth Strategy and safeguard the widest level of 
community interest.

81   GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET SUMMARY 

The Director of Finance and Resources submitted a report to update 
members on the development of the General Fund Revenue Budget 
Summary for 2019/20 and future years.

Page 4



CABINET 18.12.18
3

The latest revised budget for 2018/19 showed a projected breakeven 
position. The report attributed this to successfully applying for VAT 
exemption on sporting activities, increased interest on investments, and 
procurement savings with regards to gas and electricity suppliers and the 
refuse collection contract.

The report provided an update on the Medium Term Financial Forecast. 
The latest projected deficit for 2019/20 was £280k, increasing to £1.3m by 
2023/24. The deficit position for 2019/20 assumed savings from the ICT 
Transformation Programme of £250k; if these savings were not achieved 
this would have an adverse impact on the deficit.

The Director of Finance and Resources advised that, in advance of the 
final budget for 2019/20 being agreed by full Council on 27 February, 
2019, work would be undertaken between Cabinet Members and the 
Corporate Management Team to continue to identify further savings and 
income generation proposals.

*RESOLVED –

1. That the updated budget projections for 2018/19 and future years, 
as detailed in Appendix A of the officer’s report, be noted.

2. That work to refine the draft estimates and to identify further budget 
saving proposals be continued.

REASON FOR DECISIONS

To keep Members informed on the development of the budget proposals 
for 2019/20 and to provide an update on the medium term financial 
forecasts.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET DR 15.01.19
1

CABINET MEETING

15 January 2019

DELEGATION REPORT
                                                                                                                    

DECISIONS TAKEN BY LEAD MEMBERS

Cabinet Member for Town Centres and Visitor Economy

Decision 
Record No.

Subject Delegation 
Reference

Date of Decision

16/18/19 Modification of Off-Street 
Parking Places Order

TV260L 21 December 2018

Decision

1. That the Local Government and Regulatory Law Manager be authorised to 
agree the final plans and provisions for the car parks to be added to the 
order.

2. That the proposed changes to the 2014 Order (as amended) be made, 
subject to consideration of any unresolved representations by the Cabinet 
Member for Town Centres and Visitor Economy, following statutory 
consultation.

3. That the Local Government and Regulatory Law Manager be authorised to 
make the proposed changes to the 2014 Order providing there are no 
unresolved representations.

Reason for Decision

To ensure that the 2014 Order (as amended) is modified to reflect necessary 
changes to parking provision.

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



CABINET DR 15.01.19
2

Cabinet Member for Governance

Decision 
Record No.

Subject Delegation 
Reference

Date of Decision

17/18/19 Draft Mayoral Protocol GV000 21 December 2018

Decision

That the Mayoral Protocol be approved and implemented with immediate effect.

Reason for Decision

To clearly define the parameters for the Mayor and Civic Office to work within 
and provide a simple, easy to use reference guide.

Page 8



Page 1

Agenda Item 10

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



Page 2 Page 10



Page 3Page 11



Page 4 Page 12



Page 5Page 13



Page 6 Page 14



Page 7Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



For publication 

Approval of revised Corporate and Housing Anti-social 
Behaviour (ASB) Policies following stakeholder consultation 

(HW1100 and HC350)

For publication

1.0 Purpose of report

1.1 To seek approval from Members for the adoption of the 
revised Corporate Anti-social Behaviour Policy and Housing 
Services Anti-social Behaviour Policy following consultation 
with stakeholders.

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 That Members approve the adoption of the Corporate Anti-
social Behaviour Policy and Housing Services Anti-social 
Behaviour Policy.

2.2 That the new anti-social behaviour policies become 
operational from Monday 5 February 2019.

Meeting: Cabinet

Date: 15 January 2019

Cabinet portfolio: Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing
Cabinet Member for Homes and Customers 

Report by: Assistant Director (Housing)
Assistant Director (Health and Wellbeing)

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



2

2.3 That the Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing and Cabinet 
Member for Homes and Customers are given delegated 
authority to approve minor policy amendments between 
formal review periods. 

2.4 That a full review of the policies takes place after three years.

3.0 Background

3.1 Approval was given by Cabinet on 13 November 2018 for:

 the proposed changes to be made to the Corporate Anti-
social Behaviour Policy (Appendix 1) and Housing Services 
Anti-social Behaviour Policy (Appendix 2)

 the Assistant Director (Housing) and Assistant Director 
(Health and Wellbeing) to consult with stakeholders 
regarding the proposed changes

 a further report to be brought to Cabinet following the 
completion of the consultation process by no later than 
January 2019

4.0 Consultation

4.1 Copies of the current and revised policies and a summary of 
the changes were sent to the following external stakeholders 
with comments requested:

 65 Council tenants comprising volunteer “armchair 
consultees” along with people who had reported anti-social 
behaviour who had indicated their willingness to be 
involved in service improvements. A prize draw for £50 
shopping vouchers was offered in recognition of the 
amount of paperwork to read and comment on. 18 tenants 
responded.

Page 18



3

 the Tenant Challenge Panel

 the Derbyshire Constabulary

 the Derbyshire County Council Community Safety Unit 

 Derbyshire Law Centre

5.0 Outcome

The consultation responses and consequent changes to the 
draft policies are summarised at Appendix 3. The most 
significant points were:

 100% of the tenants who responded agreed with the 
proposed changes to the Corporate and Housing Anti-
social Behaviour Policies and found them informative.

 72% of the tenants who responded found the Corporate 
Anti-social Behaviour Policy easy to understand. 89% found 
the Housing Anti-social Behaviour Policy easy to 
understand.

 At the request of the Tenant Challenge Panel, a new 
paragraph was included in the Housing Anti-social 
Behaviour Policy to ensure that serious anti-social 
behaviour from the previous tenancy will be taken into 
account when re-letting the property (“sensitive lets”).

 At the request of the Derbyshire County Council 
Community Safety Unit, a new paragraph was included in 
both policies covering the storage, retention and deletion 
of data.

Page 19



4

5.0 Financial considerations 

5.1 There are no additional costs associated with the new 
proposed policies. Expenditure will continue to be met from 
existing Housing Revenue Account and General Fund budgets.

6.0 Risk management

6.1 The main risks associated with the revised policy are shown in 
the table below: 

Description of 
the Risk

Impact Likelihood
Mitigating 

Action
Impact Likelihood

Inappropriate 
or inadequate 
responses to 
ASB resulting 
in complaints 
by residents / 
adverse 
publicity / 
reputational 
damage

High Medium Updated policy Low Low

Legal 
challenges 
about working 
outside policy

High Medium Updated policy Low Low

Challenges 
about 
authority of 
specific posts 
to take legal 
action

High Medium Updated policy Low Low

Page 20



5

Description of 
the Risk

Impact Likelihood
Mitigating 

Action
Impact Likelihood

7.0 Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA)

7.1 A preliminary equalities impact assessment is attached at 
Appendix 4. 

8.0 Recommendations

8.1 That Members approve the adoption of the Corporate Anti-
social Behaviour Policy and Housing Services Anti-social 
Behaviour Policy.

8.2 That the new anti-social behaviour policies become operational 
from Monday 5 February 2019.

8.3 That the Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing and Cabinet 
Member for Housing are given delegated authority to approve 
minor policy amendments between formal review periods. 

8.4 That a full review of the concessions policy takes place after 
three years.

9.0 Reasons for recommendations

9.1 To take account of developments in anti-social behaviour 
characteristics, legislation and national and local priorities.

Page 21



6

Decision information

Key decision number 858
Wards affected ALL 

Document information

Report author Contact number/email
Michael Moore – 
Neighbourhoods 
Manager (Housing 
Services) 

michael.moore@chesterfield.gov.uk

Appendices to the report
Appendix 1 Final revised Corporate Anti-social Behaviour 

Policy
Appendix 2 Final revised Housing Services Anti-social 

Behaviour Policy 
Appendix 3 Summary of consultation responses
Appendix 4 Equality impact assessment

Page 22

mailto:michael.moore@chesterfield.gov.uk


 

 

APPENDIX 1 
 

 

CHESTERFIELD 

BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 

 

CORPORATE ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR POLICY 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5 February 2019 
  

Page 23



 

 

 Contents 
 

 

Page 
 

1 
 

Statement of policy 

1 
 

Policy aims 
 

1 
 

Partnership working 
 

2 
 

Promotion of tolerance 
 

2 
 

The role of the community 
 

2 
 

Employee authority 
 

2 
 

Definitions, responsibilities, powers, descriptions 
 

2 
 

Definition of anti-social behaviour 
 

3 
 

Powers and responsibilities 
 

4 
 

Our general approach 
 

4 
 

Putting victims first 
 

4 
 

Early intervention and prevention 
 

5 
 

Incremental approach 
 

5 
 

Evidence 
 

5 
 

Reporting anti-social behaviour 
 

6 
 

Safeguarding 
 

6 
 

Information exchange, retention, disclosure and publicity 
 

7 
 

Publicity 
 

7 
 

Protection of employees, councillors and contractors  
 

8 
 

Training 
 

8 
 

Policy implementation and update 
 

Page 24



1 

 

1 Statement of policy 
 

1.1 This policy sets out the council’s commitment to reducing anti-social 

behaviour. It supports the council’s vision to put our communities first 

and the following priorities: 
 

• To make Chesterfield a thriving borough. 
 

• To improve the quality of life for local people. 
 

• To provide value for money services. 

 

 

 Policy aims 
 

1.2 We recognise that left unchallenged, anti-social behaviour can have a 

significant negative impact on the lives of our communities, including 

those who live, work, visit and study in our borough. In order to support 

our commitment to reducing anti-social behaviour, our aims are to: 
 

• place victims and witnesses at the centre of our procedures and 

support them throughout their case 
 

• make effective use of the powers, orders and mechanisms available to 

us to deal with anti-social behaviour 
 

• participate fully in joint working with partner agencies to enable the 

best possible outcomes 
 

• raise awareness of what conduct constitutes anti-social behaviour. 
 

• encourage people to report anti-social behaviour to the relevant 

services 
 

• publicise and promote our service and others that are available to 

tackle anti-social behaviour 

 

1.3 This document is the council’s over-arching anti-social behaviour policy 

document, and therefore outlines issues in their broadest form. 

 

1.4 Service-specific documents are available on our website. These should be 

read together with this document. 

 

 

 Partnership working 
 

1.5 We may work with all relevant services and partners to tackle anti-social 

behaviour at all levels: 
 

Page 25



2 

 

• at strategic level (e.g., by active participation in the Chesterfield 

Community Safety Partnership) 
 

• with projects (e.g., to reduce crime and disorder on a particular estate, 

or to tackle a particular type of anti-social behaviour throughout the 

borough) 
 

• with individual cases where appropriate 

 

 

 Promotion of tolerance 
 

1.6 We will promote tolerance, balancing individuals’ liberties with the impact 

of their behaviour on others. 

 

 

 The role of the community 
 

1.7 People in the community have the most important role in reducing anti-

social behaviour. The organisations involved in tackling anti-social 

behaviour can only act where there is a partnership with the community. 

Where appropriate, we encourage informal resolution of disputes before 

we are asked to intervene.  

 

 

 Employee authority 
 

1.8 Authority to issue formal notices and to enact legal interventions will only 

be given to employees that are suitably qualified and experienced. 

 

 

2 Definitions, responsibilities, powers, descriptions 
 

 Definitions of anti-social behaviour 
 

2.1 The definitions of anti-social behaviour vary according to specific laws 

and the legal measures available to deal with it. Therefore we do not 

include an explicit definition of anti-social behaviour in this policy 

because this may restrict our capacity to take action that would otherwise 

be within our powers. However in general terms, we consider anti-social 

behaviour to include: 
 

• behaviour that is likely to cause, harassment, alarm or distress to 

any person 

Page 26



3 

 

• behaviour capable of causing nuisance or annoyance 
 

• disorderly, offensive, immoral or criminal behaviour 
 

• behaviour that has a detrimental effect on the quality of life of other 

people 

 

The above are examples of types of behaviour that we consider to be 

anti-social. It is not intended to be an exhaustive list 

 

 

 Powers and responsibilities 
 

2.2 As a borough council, we have a range of powers and responsibilities in 

dealing with anti-social behaviour, including: 
 

• As a statutory partner within the Community Safety Partnership. 

As such, we have a shared legal responsibility with members of the 

partnership to formulate and implement a strategy for the 

reduction of crime and disorder. 
 

• As a member of the Community Safety Partnership, we work with 

other agencies on projects to prevent anti-social behaviour. 
 

• As a borough council, we have a range of powers to deal with anti-

social, disorderly, offensive and criminal behaviour on public land, 

residential accommodation and other premises. In such cases, we 

will work with partners to decide who is best placed to take action. 
 

• As a social landlord, we have these powers where the housing 

related nuisance is directly or indirectly related to our housing 

management function. We also have powers and responsibilities 

arising from the landlord and tenant relationship. 
 

• We have a range of powers and responsibilities to deal with 

environmental anti-social behaviour. 

 

2.3 We will take into account the views of those involved in a case. However 

it will remain our decision about what action we take or do not take. 

 

 

3 Our general approach 
 

 Putting victims first 
 

3.1 In responding effectively to anti-social behaviour, we will provide support 

or work with partners to arrange support for victims and witnesses, 

Page 27



4 

 

including: 
 

• Ensuring that a systematic and continuous assessment of the risk of 

harm is carried out for victims and witnesses and that appropriate 

action is taken. 
 

• Ensuring contact is maintained with victims and witnesses at every 

stage of the investigation. 
 

• Ensuring that timely and appropriate action is taken against those 

engaging in anti-social behaviour where possible. 
 

• Where appropriate, making referrals to specialist support providers. 

 

3.2 We will participate in initiatives to identify vulnerable and repeat victims 

and to work with other services to carry out multi-agency case reviews. 

 

 

 Early intervention and prevention 
 

3.3 Early intervention is important in preventing anti-social behaviour from 

escalating. We will therefore ensure that it is easy for people to report 

problems to us and we will respond within an appropriate time. 

 

3.4 We recognise the importance of preventing anti-social behaviour through 

services for vulnerable people who may be engaging in anti-social 

behaviour. We may therefore provide support directly or by referral to 

another specialist support provider for people whose anti-social 

behaviour may be a result of a disability. We will take reasonable 

measures to ensure that an assessment takes place before taking legal 

action against a person who has, or who we suspect may have a 

protected characteristic. Exceptions include where an urgent application 

to court is required without notice to any person who is alleged to have 

engaged in anti-social behaviour that warrants such an application. 

 

3.5 If someone who is engaging in anti-social behaviour has a disability, we 

must balance their rights with any legitimate aim, such as the need to 

prevent and stop anti-social behaviour and enforce compliance with the 

law, rules, regulations and agreements, such as tenancy agreements. A 

legal measure such as eviction or an injunction may be sought where it is 

proportionate to achieve a legitimate aim. 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



5 

 

 Incremental approach 
 

3.6 Where appropriate, we will take an incremental approach, where legal 

action is only considered if other measures are not appropriate or have 

not worked, particularly where those engaging in anti-social behaviour 

are more vulnerable. However, we may take any action, including legal 

proceedings, without warning or consideration of other measures if, in 

our opinion, the circumstances warrant it. 

 

 

 Evidence 
 

3.7 We base our interventions, investigations and action upon evidence. We 

will not consider taking enforcement action unless there is evidence to 

show that it is more likely than not that there has been anti-social 

behaviour. 

 

 

 Reporting anti-social behaviour 
 

3.8 We will try to be accessible to all. Where people have difficulty in 

communicating with us, we will make reasonable adjustments to make 

communication easier. 

 

3.9 We will make available a range of ways to report anti-social behaviour. 

However we may not investigate or take further action unless we have 

direct reports from someone or direct evidence such as a conviction, 

open source information or it is self-evident. If evidence from a witness is 

needed for investigation and enforcement, we will not normally accept 

anonymous reports or those made through a third party. 

 

3.10 Reports in relation to the behaviour of others (e.g., someone making an 

allegation against a neighbour) will not be investigated under the 

council’s complaints policy. Instead they will be reported as requests for 

service and managed in line with our policies and procedures. 

 

 

 Safeguarding 
 

3.11 We recognise our role in protecting the most vulnerable members of our 

community. We will ensure that all members of staff are trained to 

enable them to respond appropriately to safeguarding concerns, 

Page 29



6 

 

including reporting anything that is a cause for concern. 

 

 

4 Information exchange, storage, disclosure and 

publicity 
 

4.1 Sharing information is an integral part of dealing with anti-social behaviour. 

We will share information with other organisations as part of a strategy to 

reduce crime and disorder. We will do this in compliance with the law and 

with protocols, agreements and guidance made with Derbyshire 

Constabulary and Derbyshire Safer Communities Board. These explain 

the information that can be provided and exchanged and the 

mechanisms to allow this.  

 

4.2 We shall store, retain and dispose of data in compliance with legal 

requirements 

 

4.3 Disclosure is possible where someone asks for information under the 

data protection law. We may refuse to supply information following a 

request made under the law if the purpose of the refusal is to prevent or 

detect crime or some other lawful purpose. 

 

4.4 We may disclose third party information (e.g., information provided by a 

witness that may identify that person) to a data subject (normally the 

subject of the report) where the third party has withheld his or her 

consent to disclosure, if we consider it is reasonable in the 

circumstances to do so. However, when dealing with such requests we 

will be sensitive to, and give proper consideration to this potential 

conflict between the data subject’s right of access and the third party’s 

right to respect for his or her private life before deciding whether to 

disclose third party information. We will normally seek the third party’s 

consent before disclosure. We may advise the third party of this and give 

the option to withdraw the report rather than have the information 

disclosed. 

 

4.5 We may disclose personal information to various teams within the 

council, but we will only do this with that person’s consent or where 

permitted under the law. 

 

4.6 All council employees have an obligation to protect confidentiality and a 

duty to make sure that information is only disclosed to those who have a 

right to see it.  

Page 30



7 

 

4.7 All council employees will be trained and be fully aware of their 

responsibilities to maintain the security and confidentiality of personal 

information.  

 

 

 Publicity 
 

4.8 The community needs information about anti-social behaviour. We will 

therefore publish information where appropriate.  

 

4.9 We may publish details about individual orders that are granted in open 

court, including personal details of the perpetrator. In each case, we will 

consider the impact, including the human rights, on the named person 

and any associated people and whether the publicity is proportionate. If 

the court imposes reporting restrictions on the press, we will also 

consider whether and how to restrict our publication. 

 

 

5 Employees, councillors and contractors 
 

 Protection 

 

5.1 We do not tolerate the abuse of council employees elected councillors 

and people working for the council as agents or contractors. Abuse 

includes: 

• abusive or threatening words or behaviour 
 

• violence and the threat of violence 
 

• making false, malicious, nuisance or vexatious complaints or 

allegations about council employees or its agents or contractors or 

services 

 

There is an assumption that we will take legal action where appropriate 

against any person who engages in such abuse. 

 

5.2 All incidents will be dealt with in compliance with the council’s health and 

safety policies and procedures. 

 

5.3 Acts of violence, threats or aggression will be recorded, and reported to 

the police where appropriate. 

 

 

Page 31



8 

 

 Training 
 

5.4 We acknowledge the difficulties faced by employees who respond to anti-

social behaviour. These difficulties include the need to make balanced 

assessments when confronted by conflicting accounts of behaviour, the 

avoidance of “confirmation bias”, the need to follow procedures and to 

remain impartial when people demand a decision in their favour. Good 

decision-making is possible only when good training is provided and 

justified evidence-based assessments are backed up by senior 

management and elected representatives. 

 

5.5 We will inform and train employees and elected representatives as 

appropriate on anti-social behaviour in general and the policies and 

procedures relevant to the council. 

 

5.6 We will work in partnership with other organisations to provide training 

for our staff on any relevant aspects of the response to anti-social 

behaviour. 

 

 

6 Policy implementation and update 
 

6.1 Our corporate management team will ensure that this policy is 

communicated to employees. 

 

6.2 This policy is adopted on Monday 5 February 2019 and will be reviewed 

after three years or in response to relevant significant change. 

 

 

Page 32



 

 

 

CHESTERFIELD 

BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

HOUSING SERVICES 
 

 

ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR POLICY 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5 February 2019 
  

Page 33



 

 

 Contents 
 

Page 

1 Terms and abbreviations 

1 Statement of policy 

1 Policy aims 

2 Respect ASB Charter for Housing 

2 Partnership working 

3 Promotion of tolerance 

3 The role of the community 

3 Employee authority 

3 Responsibilities, definitions, powers, descriptions 

3 Responsibilities 

4 Definition of anti-social behaviour 

5 Limits to our involvement 

6 Serious anti-social behaviour 

6 Our general approach 

7 Early intervention and prevention 

9 Incremental approach and proportionality 

9 Evidence 

10 Reporting anti-social behaviour 

11 The right to respond 

11 Closing cases 

11 Safeguarding 

12 Information exchange, retention, disclosure and publicity 

13 Publicity 

13 Protection of employees, councillors and contractors 

14 Training 

14 Policy implementation and update 

Page 34



1 

 

1. Terms and abbreviations 
 

ASB Anti-social behaviour 

 

Community Safety 

Partnership 

Representatives from the police, Chesterfield Borough 

Council, Derbyshire County Council, the fire and rescue 

service, health services, probation services and others 

which work together to tackle crime and disorder. 

 

Reporter A person making a report of anti-social behaviour 

(sometimes referred to as a “complainant”). 

 

Subject A person who is the subject of an anti-social behaviour 

report (sometimes called a “perpetrator” or “alleged 

perpetrator”). 

 

The council Chesterfield Borough Council 

 

Victim A person who is subject to an impact from anti-social 

behaviour  

 

Witness A person who sees, hears, experiences or is aware of in 

another way an incident or event 

 

 

 

2. Statement of policy 
 

2.1 This policy sets out the commitment of the council’s housing service to 

reducing anti-social behaviour. It supports the council’s vision to put our 

communities first and the following priorities: 
 

• To make Chesterfield a thriving borough. 
 

• To improve the quality of life for local people. 
 

• To provide value for money services. 

 
 

 Policy aims 
 

2.2 We recognise that left unchallenged, anti-social behaviour can have a 

significant negative impact on the lives of our communities, including 

those who live, work, visit and study in our borough. In order to support 

Page 35



2 

 

our commitment to reducing anti-social behaviour, our aims are to: 
 

• reduce anti-social behaviour that involves Chesterfield Borough 

Council tenants as victims or perpetrators 
 

• put victims and witnesses at the centre of our procedures and support 

them throughout their case 
 

• make effective use of the powers, orders and mechanisms available 

for us to deal with anti-social behaviour 
 

• participate fully in joint working with partner agencies to enable the 

best possible outcomes 
 

• raise awareness of what conduct constitutes anti-social behaviour 
 

• encourage people to report anti-social behaviour 
 

• publicise and promote our service and others that are available to 

tackle anti-social behaviour 

 

 

 Respect ASB Charter for Housing 
 

2.3 We have signed up to the ‘Respect ASB Charter for Housing’ which 

includes a set of commitments which are underpinned by a range of 

outcomes. 

 

The charter consists of the following core commitments which we shall 

try to meet. 
 

1. Demonstrating leadership and strategic commitment. 
 

2. Providing an accessible and accountable service. 
 

3. Taking swift action to protect communities. 
 

4. Adopting supportive approach to working with victims and witnesses. 
 

5. Encouraging individual and community responsibility. 
 

6. Having a clear focus on prevention and early intervention. 
 

7. Ensuring that a value for money approach is embedded in our 

service. 

 

 

 Partnership working 
 

2.4 We may work with all relevant services and partners to tackle anti-social 

behaviour at all levels, including: 
 

• at a strategic level (e.g., by active participation in the Chesterfield 

Page 36



3 

 

Community Safety Partnership) 
 

• with projects (e.g., to reduce crime and disorder on a particular estate, 

or to tackle a particular type of anti-social behaviour throughout the 

Borough) 
 

• with individual cases 

 

 

 Promotion of tolerance 
 

2.5 We will promote tolerance, balancing individuals’ liberties with the impact 

of their conduct on others. 

 

 

 The role of the community 
 

2.6 People in the community have the most important role in reducing anti-

social behaviour. The organisations involved in tackling anti-social 

behaviour can only act where there is a partnership with the community. 

Where appropriate, we encourage informal resolution of disputes before 

we are asked to intervene.  

 

 

 Employee authority 
 

2.7 Authority to issue formal notices and to enact legal interventions will only 

be given to employees that are suitably qualified and experienced.  

 

 

3 Responsibilities, definitions, powers, descriptions 
 

 Responsibilities 
 

3.1 The housing service is a part of Chesterfield Borough Council. We 

therefore have powers and responsibilities arising from being part of a 

local authority and must comply with the council’s policies, strategies and 

governance, including those related to anti-social behaviour.  

 

3.2 As a social landlord, we have legal powers to respond to anti-social 

behaviour involving our tenants and the land and property we manage. 

We also have legal powers and responsibilities arising from the 

relationship between landlord and tenant. 

Page 37



4 

 

3.3 Chesterfield Borough Council is a statutory partner within the Community 

Safety Partnership. As such, it has a shared legal responsibility with 

members of the partnership to formulate and implement a strategy for 

the reduction of crime and disorder. Because the housing service is part 

of the council, we are involved with working with other statutory services 

in the Community Safety Partnership to develop a strategy for the 

reduction of crime and disorder. 
 

 

 Definition of Anti-social Behaviour 
 

3.4 Our definition of anti-social behaviour includes: 
 

• Conduct, which for the purposes of this section incudes disorderly, 

offensive, immoral or criminal behaviour, that has caused, or is likely 

to cause, harassment, alarm or distress to any person. 
 

• Conduct capable of causing nuisance or annoyance to a person in 

relation to that person’s occupation of residential premises.  
 

• Conduct that has a detrimental effect on the quality of life of people in 

the locality 
 

• Conduct capable of causing nuisance or annoyance to any person 

which is directly or indirectly related to the council’s housing 

management functions. 
 

The above are examples of types of behaviour that we consider to be 

anti-social. It is not intended to be an exhaustive list and does not 

prevent us from taking action that would otherwise be within our powers. 

 

3.5 We appreciate that individuals may have different levels of tolerance 

towards certain activities. To avoid doubt, the following are examples of 

types of behaviour that we do not generally consider to be anti-social and 

therefore may not become involved in investigating them: 
 

• A baby crying. 
 

• Young people gathering socially or children playing in areas of general 

needs housing or a designated play area at reasonable times (unless 

this is combined with other anti-social behaviour). 
 

• Being unable to park a vehicle near or outside a home. 
 

• At reasonable times, frequency and duration, mowing lawns, using 

garden tools, using domestic appliances (e.g., vacuum cleaner, 

washing machine) or carrying out DIY. 
 

• Noise from everyday living, e.g., walking across laminate flooring, 

flushing a toilet 
 

Page 38



5 

 

• Cooking smells 

 

This is not an exhaustive list. 

 

 

 Limits to our involvement 
 

3.6 We understand that some people may be annoyed by the activities or 

behaviour of someone else and may consider this to be a nuisance or 

annoyance. However, we must also take account of a person’s right to 

engage in activities that should be considered as reasonable under the 

circumstances. 

 

For example, we may not intervene or take enforcement action where: 
 

• evidence does not show that it is more likely than not there has been, 

or there is likely to be, anti-social behaviour (including where any 

nuisance or annoyance caused is a result of reasonable behaviour) 
 

• those engaging in anti-social behaviour cannot reasonably be 

identified 
 

• our intervention or action would be a disproportionate response to 

resolving the problem 
 

• we assess that there is not an acceptable chance of a successful 

outcome 
 

• there is no suitable legal remedy that we can take 

 

In such cases, we may advise on “self-help” options and/or refer to 

another service. 

 

3.7 We will not become involved in any case in our capacity as a local housing 

authority where there is no indication that: 
 

• a Chesterfield Borough Council tenant has engaged in the anti-social 

behaviour in the locality of their home, or 
 

• a Chesterfield Borough Council tenant has been affected by anti-

social behaviour in the locality of their home, or 
 

• there has been an effect on our housing management functions 

 

 

 Serious anti-social behaviour 
 

3.8 Our assessment of whether anti-social behaviour is serious determines 

Page 39



6 

 

how quickly we respond, the measures we put in place to protect victims 

and the measures we consider for resolving the case. 

 

We would normally consider serious anti-social behaviour to include: 
 

• Hate crime 
 

• Violence 
 

• Threats of violence, serious aggression and deliberate intimidation 
 

• Domestic abuse 
 

• The use of council premises or land for serious illegal activity, e.g., 

the production, storage or supply of illegal drugs 
 

• Malicious or recklessly false allegations 
 

• Any relevant serious criminal offence as defined in law 
 

• Conduct which puts any person’s safety at risk e.g. interfering with 

electricity or gas supplies 

 

The above are examples and are not intended to be an exhaustive list 

 

 

4 Our general approach 
 

 Putting victims first 
 

4.1 In responding effectively to anti-social behaviour, we must provide or 

work with partners to arrange support for victims and witnesses, 

including: 
 

• Assigning an individual officer to the case. 
 

• At the earliest stage possible, providing a realistic assessment for 

people reporting anti-social behaviour about whether their reports 

are likely to amount to anti-social behaviour, whether we can 

intervene and if so, what form that intervention might take. 
 

• Ensuring that a systematic and continuous assessment of the risk of 

harm is carried out for victims and witnesses and that appropriate 

action is taken. 
 

• Trying to minimise the need for people to provide evidence. However 

in most cases, a good standard of evidence provided by a witness, 

occasionally over an extended period, is the most important element 

in bringing a case to a successful conclusion. Where legal action is 

taken, these reports are often needed up to the date of a court 

Page 40



7 

 

hearing and after a court order to show that the anti-social behaviour 

is continuing.  
 

• Minimising delays by taking action as soon as we have assessed that 

there has been anti-social behaviour (see 3.4). There must be 

reasonable justification for not taking action at this stage.  
 

• Where appropriate, making referrals to specialist support providers. 
 

• Maintaining regular contact with victims and witnesses and keeping 

them updated with the progress of the case. 
 

• Where required, carrying out a safety audit and arranging for home 

security measures. 
 

• If it is no longer reasonable for the victim to remain in their home, we 

will consider temporary or permanent rehousing in the most serious 

cases. 

 

4.2 We will participate in initiatives to identify vulnerable and repeat victims 

and to work with other services to carry out multi-agency case reviews. 

 

4.3 We recognise that giving evidence at court can be a worrying and 

stressful experience. Those who act on behalf of their community by 

agreeing to be witnesses deserve support. In order to minimise any 

anxiety around the process we will offer support to those who act as 

witnesses in court for us, including: 
 

• offering transport to and from the court or reimbursement of public 

transport costs 
 

• having a named officer who stays with them at all times while at 

court 
 

• a meeting before the court hearing so they know what to expect 
 

• arranging a “pre-court” visit to show them the building 

 

 

 Early intervention and prevention 
 

4.4 Early intervention is important in preventing anti-social behaviour from 

escalating. We will therefore ensure that it is easy for people to report 

problems to us and we will respond quickly to those reports by offering a 

face to face interview within a clear timescale, which we will publish in 

our summary of procedures (available on the council’s website). 

 

4.5 We will normally consider any appropriate remedy which might work in a 

particular case. This may include working in partnership with other 

Page 41



8 

 

organisations. 

 

4.6 We will make it clear to applicants for housing and our tenants from the 

earliest stage that they must observe certain standards of behaviour and 

what may happen if they do not. 

 

4.7 We will make it clear that where behaviour is reasonable under the 

circumstances, we do not consider it to be anti-social and we will not take 

enforcement action. We may suggest alternative types of action. 

 

4.8 We will take steps to identify people who are registered for housing and 

who may benefit from support so that we can offer support from the 

start of their tenancies. Where a need for support is identified, we may 

make a referral to an appropriate support service where one exists. 

 

4.9 In accordance with our allocations policy, we may exclude an applicant 

from the housing register for a period where that person, or a member of 

their household, or their joint applicant, has engaged in anti-social 

behaviour. This means that until the applicant has proved that they have 

remedied their behaviour, other applicants who have not engaged in 

anti-social behaviour will be preferred over them. 

 

We may disqualify applicants from the housing register if we have 

evidence that they, or a member of their household, or their joint 

applicant, has behaved in an unacceptable way and we consider this 

makes them unsuitable to have a tenancy with the council. 

 

4.10 Where the tenancy of a property has ended and the housing service is 

aware of anti-social behaviour associated with that tenancy that was 

likely to have met the requirements for legal action, this will be taken into 

account when allocating the next tenancy of that property. 

 

4.11 The above at 4.8, 4.9 and 4.10 is not intended to alter or amend our 

allocations policy. 

 

4.12 We recognise the importance of preventing anti-social behaviour through 

services for vulnerable people who may be engaging in anti-social 

behaviour. We may therefore provide support directly or by referral to 

another specialist support provider for people whose anti-social 

behaviour may be a result of a disability. We will take reasonable 

measures to ensure that an assessment takes place prior to taking legal 

action against a person who has, or who we suspect may have a 

protected characteristic. Exceptions include having to take action in 

Page 42



9 

 

situations where an urgent application to court is required without notice 

to any person who is alleged to have engaged in anti-social behaviour 

that warrants such an application. 

 

4.13 If someone who is engaging in anti-social behaviour has a disability, we 

must balance their rights with any legitimate aim, such as the need to 

prevent and stop anti-social behaviour and enforce compliance with the 

law, rules, regulations and agreements, such as tenancy agreements. A 

legal measure such as eviction or an injunction may be sought where it is 

proportionate to achieve a legitimate aim. 

 

 

 Incremental approach and proportionality 
 

4.14 Where appropriate, we will take an incremental approach, where legal 

action is only considered if other measures are not appropriate or have 

not worked, particularly where those engaging in anti-social behaviour 

are more vulnerable. However, we may take any action, including legal 

proceedings, without warning or consideration of other measures if, in 

our opinion, the circumstances warrant it. 

 

4.15 We take legal measures when it is proportionate. We will normally 

consider using the most serious measures such as eviction under 

circumstances including, but not limited to: 
 

• a response to the most serious anti-social behaviour as outlined at 

paragraph 3.8 above 
 

• where the conduct is such that it is no longer appropriate for the 

person to remain in occupation of a council property 
 

• where the conditions are met for an absolute ground for possession 
 

• where incremental measures have not worked 
 

• where anti-social behaviour is persistent or repeated 

 

4.16 We will take into account the views of those involved in a case. However it 

will remain our decision about what action we take or do not take. 

 

 

 Evidence 
 

4.17 We base our interventions, investigations and action upon evidence. We 

will not consider taking enforcement action unless there is evidence to 

show that it is more likely than not that there has been anti-social 

Page 43



10 

 

behaviour. 

 

4.18 We will use reasonable and proportionate means to clarify and 

substantiate evidence, including, at appropriate stages in an 

investigation, face to face interviews and seeking corroboration from 

other potential sources of information.  

 

4.19 Where someone does not comply with our reasonable requirements to 

provide, clarify and substantiate evidence, for instance by refusing a face 

to face interview, or to respond fully to reasonable questions, we reserve 

the right not to take further action. 

 

4.20 Where a case goes to court, the strongest type of evidence is normally 

“first hand” or "direct" evidence. Where the source of this evidence is a 

witness, the identity of the witness is disclosed to the defendant, to his or 

her legal representatives and to the court. The witness attends court and 

may be cross examined. We encourage and expect witnesses to provide 

direct evidence where it is reasonable for them to do so. 

 

4.21 Hearsay evidence is where, for example, a witness gives evidence to 

another person (e.g., a housing officer) about something which they have 

seen, heard or are aware of. The housing officer may present the hearsay 

evidence to the court without the witness needing to give a statement or 

to attend court to give evidence. However the housing officer may still 

need to disclose the identity of the witness. Hearsay evidence may be 

accepted by the court, but it does not have the same value as direct 

evidence. We will therefore consider the use of hearsay evidence, but 

reserve the right not to use it or take it in into consideration if, in our 

judgement, there is not an acceptable chance of a favourable outcome. 

 

4.22 The court may consider anonymous hearsay evidence where it can be 

shown that there will be, or there is likely to be, a serious risk of harm to 

the witness if the witness’s identity is revealed. However the weight which 

the court gives to hearsay or anonymous evidence will be less than that 

of direct evidence. We will therefore consider the use of hearsay 

evidence, but reserve the right not to use it or take it in into consideration 

if, in our judgement, there is not an acceptable chance of a favourable 

outcome. 

 

 

 Reporting anti-social behaviour 
 

4.23 We will try to be accessible to all. Where people have difficulty in 

Page 44



11 

 

communicating with us, we make reasonable adjustments to make 

communication easier.  

 

4.24 We will make available a range of ways to report anti-social behaviour. 

However we may not investigate or take further action unless we have 

direct reports from an individual or direct evidence such as a conviction, 

open source information or it is self-evident. If evidence from a witness is 

needed for investigation and enforcement, we will not normally accept 

anonymous reports or those made through a third party. 

 

4.25 Reports in relation to the behaviour of others (e.g., someone making an 

allegation against a neighbour) will not be investigated under the 

council’s complaints policy. Instead they will be reported as requests for 

service and managed in line with our policy and procedures. 

 

 

 The right to respond 
 

4.26 We will give a reasonable opportunity for any person we are investigating 

to respond to allegations. 

 

 

 Closing cases 
 

4.27 We will normally close a case only when the situation is resolved and the 

reporter is happy for the case to be closed. However in certain 

circumstances we may close the case without the agreement of the 

reporter. These circumstances include where: 
 

• we are satisfied that we have done all we reasonably can 
 

• we have assessed that it is not anti-social behaviour 
 

• the reporter has not cooperated with a reasonable request (e.g., has 

not responded to requests for contact, has refused to attend an 

interview or has not provide information reasonably requested) 
 

• we have not received any further reports of anti-social behaviour 

within three months 

• the allegations are likely to be false, malicious, a nuisance or 

vexatious 

 

4.28 We will always try to make contact with the reporter before closing a 

case. 

 

 

Page 45



12 

 

 Safeguarding 
 

4.29 We recognise our role in protecting vulnerable members of our 

community. In dealing with anti-social behaviour, we may come into 

contact with children and adults where there are safeguarding concerns. 

We will ensure that all members of staff are trained appropriately to 

enable them to respond to such concerns, including reporting anything 

that is a cause for concern. 

 

 

5 Information exchange, storage, disclosure and 

publicity 
 

5.1 Sharing information is an integral part of dealing with anti-social behaviour. 

We will share information with other organisations as part of a strategy to 

reduce crime and disorder. We will do this in compliance with the law and 

with protocols, agreements and guidance made with Derbyshire 

Constabulary and Derbyshire Safer Communities Board. These explain 

the information that can be provided and exchanged and the 

mechanisms to allow this.  

 

5.2 We shall store, retain and dispose of data in compliance with legal 

requirements 

 

5.3 Disclosure is possible where someone asks for information under data 

protection law. We may refuse to supply information following a request 

made under the law if the purpose of the refusal is to prevent or detect 

crime or some other lawful purpose. 

 

5.4 If we consider it is reasonable in the circumstances to do so, we may 

disclose third party information (e.g., information provided by a witness 

that may identify that person) to a data subject (normally the subject of 

the report) where the third party has withheld consent to disclosure. 

However when dealing with such requests, before deciding whether to 

disclose third party information, we will be sensitive to, and give proper 

consideration to this potential conflict between the data subject’s right of 

access and the third party’s right to respect for a private life. We will 

normally seek the third party’s consent before disclosure. We may advise 

the third party of this and give the option to withdraw the report rather 

than have the information disclosed. 

 

5.5 We may disclose personal information to various teams within the 

Page 46



13 

 

council, but we will only do this with that person’s consent or where 

permitted under the law. 

 

5.6 All employees of the housing service have an obligation to protect 

confidentiality and a duty to make sure that information is only disclosed 

to those who have a right to see it.  

 

5.7 All employees of the housing service will be trained and be fully aware of 

their responsibilities to maintain the security and confidentiality of 

personal information.  

 

 

 Publicity 
 

5.8 The community needs information about anti-social behaviour. We will 

therefore publish information where appropriate.  

 

5.9 We may publish details about individual orders that are granted in open 

court, including personal details of the perpetrator. In each case, we will 

consider the impact, including the human rights, on the named person 

and any associated people and whether the publicity is proportionate. If 

the court imposes reporting restrictions on the press, we will also 

consider whether and how to restrict our publication. 

 

 

6 Employees, councillors and contractors 
 

 Protection 

 

6.1 We do not tolerate the abuse of council employees elected councillors 

and people working for the council as agents or contractors. Abuse 

includes: 
 

• abusive or threatening words or behaviour 
 

• violence or the threat of violence 
 

• false, malicious, nuisance or vexatious complaints or allegations 

about council employees or its agents or contractors or services 

 

There will be an assumption that we will take legal action where 

appropriate against any person who engages in such abuse. 

 

6.2 All incidents will be dealt with in compliance with the council’s health and 

Page 47



14 

 

safety policies and procedures. 

 

6.3 Acts of violence, threats or aggression will be recorded, and reported to 

the police where appropriate. 

 

 

 Training 
 

6.4 We recognise that there is likely to be a higher risk to employees who 

respond to anti-social and often criminal behaviour. Our highest priority 

is the health and safety of our employees, elected councillors and people 

working for the council as agents or contractors. We will therefore ensure 

that employees of the housing service who are involved in responding to 

anti-social behaviour are trained in relevant health and safety policies 

and procedures. 

 

6.5 We acknowledge the difficulties faced by employees who respond to anti-

social behaviour. These difficulties include the need to make balanced 

assessments when confronted by conflicting accounts of behaviour, the 

avoidance of “confirmation bias”, the need to follow procedures and to 

remain impartial when people demand resolution in their favour. Good 

decision-making is made possible only when good training is provided 

and justified evidence-based assessments are backed up by senior 

management and elected representatives. 

 

6.6 We will inform and train employees and elected representatives as 

appropriate on anti-social behaviour in general and the policies and 

procedures relevant to the housing service. 

 

6.7 We will work in partnership with other organisations to provide training 

for our staff on any relevant aspects of the response to anti-social 

behaviour. 

 

 

7 Policy implementation and update 
 

7.1 Our housing management team will ensure that this policy is 

communicated to housing service employees. 

 

7.2 This policy is adopted on Monday 5 February 2019 and will be reviewed 

after three years or in response to relevant significant change. 

 

Page 48



1 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

SUMMARY CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 

From Tenants 
 

Proposed Corporate ASB Policy 
Yes No 

Not 

Sure 

Do you agree with the proposed changes to 

the Corporate ASB Policy? 
18 0 0 

Do you find the Corporate ASB Policy easy to 

understand? 
13 2 3 

Do you find the Corporate ASB Policy 

informative? 
18 0 0 

 

Proposed Housing ASB Policy 
Yes No 

Not 

Sure 

Do you agree with the proposed changes to 

the Housing ASB Policy? 
18 0 0 

Do you find the Housing ASB Policy easy to 

understand? 
16 0 2 

Do you find the Housing ASB Policy 

informative? 
18 0 0 

 

Tenant comments in response to the following 

questions: 
 

• Do you agree with the proposed changes to the policies? 

• Do you find the policies easy to understand? 

• Do you find the policies informative 

• How would you improve the policies? 

• Does anything need to be added or taken away from the new 

policies? 

• Do you have any further comments about any aspect of the 

proposed policies? 

 

Page 49



2 
 

Proposed Corporate Policy (Tenant Comments) 

Comment Response/Amendment 

A very interesting document 

 

 

I find it complicated and not easy 

to understand but I understand 

that it has to address so many 

situations 

 

The phrases used are a balance 

of comprehensibility against the 

need for precision. Specific 

suggestions have been 

incorporated where they improve 

clarity. 

 

A bit complicated if you are not 

familiar with it but probably can’t 

be improved. 

 

Reads well as being accessible to 

all although that is not always 

easy to implement 

 

N/A 

 

Proposed Housing Policy (Tenant Comments) 

Comment Response/Amendment 

Very detailed 

 

N/A 

Don’t change it, everything that 

needs to be is there 

 

N/A 

I cannot find any reason to 

improve it 

 

N/A 

Seems to cover what is needed 

and is fair 

 

N/A 

What does “target hardening” 

mean? 

 

Term deleted. Covered under the 

term ‘home security measures’. 

 

Page 50



3 
 

Both Proposed Policies (Tenant Comments) 

Comment Response/Amendment 

Easier to understand. 

 

N/A. 

There is a greater focus on 

victims. 

 

N/A. 

Well thought through. 

 

N/A. 

Layout is better. 

 

N/A. 

More condensed. 

 

N/A. 

No need to improve any further. 

 

N/A. 

Proof read for better 

comprehension. 

Further proof reading carried out 

to simplify where possible (e.g., 

changing ‘in conjunction with’ to 

‘together with’), correcting 

numbering errors and 

compliance with corporate style. 

 

Highlight chapter headings to 

clarify division between chapters 

and sub-headings. 

 

Incorporated. 

Can some legal terms be made 

easier to understand? 

 

The phrases used are a balance 

of comprehensibility against the 

need for precision. Specific 

suggestions have been 

incorporated where they improve 

clarity. 

 

Delete phrases that people may 

not understand. 

 

 

 

Page 51



4 
 

Both Proposed Policies (Tenant Comments) (Continued) 

Summary of changes helpful and 

should be included in the 

policies. 

 

Not incorporated. The details of 

changes and the reasons can be 

published on the website, but 

consideration would need to be 

given about how to minimise the 

risk of confusion. 

 

No mention of how success of 

policies will be monitored. 

Perhaps include in separate 

document. 

 

Not incorporated. The success of 

the policies will be measured in a 

range of ways, including 

complaints, feedback from 

elected members, customer 

satisfaction (e.g., the 

questionnaire given to people 

reporting ASB in Housing cases, 

the State of the Borough Report 

and the annual HouseMark Star 

Survey). 

 

Revision after three years is too 

long. Suggest every 18 months or 

two years. 

 

Not incorporated. The frequency 

of revision is a balance between 

the need to respond to changes 

and the significant time and 

resources involved in carrying out 

a revision. The policy will be 

revised sooner than three years if 

there is a change that makes this 

necessary. 

 

There should be a bigger 

emphasis on staff training and 

timelines for staff training as it 

becomes out of date quickly. 

 

Not incorporated. The policies 

have a broad commitment to 

train staff as appropriate. The 

details of how this is achieved are 

procedural (e.g., employee, team 

and service development plans). 

 

Page 52



5 
 

From other stakeholders 
 

Proposed Corporate Policy (Stakeholders) 

Comment Response/Amendment 

None. 

 

N/A. 

 

Proposed Housing Policy (Stakeholders) 

Comment Response/Amendment 

(DCC Community Safety) 

At 3.4, include specific definition 

of ASB used for Community 

Protection Notices. 

 

 

Incorporated for completeness. 

 

(Internal stakeholder) 

We cannot guarantee to make a 

referral in every case. Therefore 

at 4.8, change ‘Where a need for 

support is identified, we will 

make a referral to an appropriate 

support service where one 

exists.’ to ‘Where a need for 

support is identified, we may 

make a referral to an appropriate 

support service where one 

exists.’ 

 

 

Agreed. 4.8 amended. 

(Tenant Challenge Panel) 

Include a statement that ASB 

from the previous tenant will be 

taken into account when re-

allocating a property (“sensitive 

lets”). 

 

 

Agreed. Incorporated at 4.10. 

 

 

Page 53



6 
 

Proposed Housing Policy (Stakeholders) (Continued) 

Comment Response/Amendment 

(Derbyshire Law Centre) 

Pleased that people identified 

who need support at the start of 

their tenancies and that an 

assessment will take place before 

legal action. 

 

 

N/A. 

 

 

Both Proposed Policies (Stakeholders) 

Comment Response/Amendment 

(DCC Community Safety) 

At 2.2 (Corporate Policy) and 3.3 

(Housing Policy): Is there a duty 

to consult with other partners as 

well as the Derbyshire 

Constabulary in the formulation 

of a strategy for crime and 

disorder? 

 

 

Agreed. Incorporated into both 

policies. 

(DCC Community Safety) 

Suggestion for a clearer form of 

words at 3.7 (Corporate Policy) 

and 4.15 (Housing Policy). 

 

 

Agreed. Incorporated into both 

policies. 

(DCC Community Safety) 

At 4. (Corporate Policy) and 5. 

(Housing Policy), include a 

reference to where data is stored 

and how long it is retained. 

 

 

Agreed. New paragraph at 4.2 

(Corporate Policy) and 5.2 

(Housing Policy). 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



7 
 

Both Proposed Policies (Stakeholders) (Continued) 

Comment Response/Amendment 

(CBC Regulatory and Local 

Government Law) 

Delete 4.2 (Corporate Policy) and 

5.2 (Housing Policy) as this is 

already covered at 4.4 (Corporate 

Policy) and 5.4 (Housing Policy). 

 

 

 

Agreed. Incorporated into both 

policies. 

(CBC Regulatory and Local 

Government Law) 

Include proportionality amongst 

considerations in decisions about 

publicity. 

 

 

 

Agreed. Incorporated into 

Corporate Policy at 4.9 and 

Housing Policy at 5.9. 

(Derbyshire Law Centre) 

No problems with proposed 

polices. Overall, a positive tool for 

preventing and dealing with ASB. 

 

 

N/A. 

(Police Inspector – Community 

Safety) 

No issues. 

 

 

 

N/A. 

 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



       1

APPENDIX 4 
Chesterfield Borough Council Equality Impact Assessment – Preliminary Assessment Form 

 

Title of the policy, project, service, function or strategy: Revised corporate and housing anti-social (ASB) 
policies 

Service Area: Health and wellbeing and housing services 

Section: Community safety team and neighbourhoods team. 

Lead Officer: Michael Moore 

Date of assessment: 09/18 

Is the policy, project, service, function or strategy:  

Existing � 

Changed Y 
New / Proposed � 

 
 
Section 1 – Clear aims and objectives 

 

1. What is the aim of the policy, project, service, function or strategy? 
To provide an up-to-date framework for the commitments, aims, responsibilities and the use and limitation of powers in relation to 
ASB for: 

• all CBC services involved in responding to ASB 

• housing services 

•  
See Appendix F for full details 

 

 

2. Who is intended to benefit from the policy and how? 
To benefit: CBC services and employees involved in responding to CBC 

Elected members 
Community safety partners 

P
age 57



       2

Members of the public 
Organisations involved in supporting and representing individuals who are engaging in, or who are victims of ASB 

 
 How:  Clarity about the commitments, aims, responsibilities, use of powers and limits to involvement of: 

• CBC services in general 

• the housing service in particular   

 

 

3. What outcomes do you want to achieve?  
Approval to consult with stakeholders about revised corporate and housing ASB policies that take into account developments in ASC 
characteristics, legislation and national and local priorities 
 

 
 

P
age 58



       3

Section 2 – What is the impact? 

 

4. Summary of anticipated impacts.  Please tick at least one option per protected characteristic. Think about barriers people may 

experience in accessing services, how the policy is likely to affect the promotion of equality, knowledge of customer experiences to date. You 
may need to think about sub-groups within categories eg. older people, younger people, people with hearing impairment etc.  

 Potentially positive 
impact 

Potentially negative 
impact 

No disproportionate 
impact 

Age  � � Y 

Disability and long term conditions � � Y 

Gender and gender reassignment � � Y 

Marriage and civil partnership � � Y 

Pregnant women and people on parental leave � � Y 

Sexual orientation � � Y 

Ethnicity � � Y 

Religion and belief � � Y 

 
Section 3 – Recommendations and monitoring 

 
If you have answered that the policy, project, service, function or strategy could potentially have a negative impact on 
any of the above characteristics then a full EIA will be required.  
 

5. Should a full EIA be completed for this policy, project, service, function or strategy? 

� Yes No  

Please explain the reasons for this decision: 
 

 

P
age 59



       4

 

Section 6 – Knowledge management and publication 

 
Please note the draft EIA should be reviewed by the appropriate Service Manager and the Policy Service before 
WBR, Lead Member, Cabinet, Council reports are produced.  
 

Reviewed by Head of Service/Service Manager 
(health and wellbeing) 

Name: Ian Waller 

Date: DD/MM/YY 

Reviewed by Head of Service/Service Manager 
(housing services) 

Name: Alison Craig 

Date: DD/MM/YY 

Reviewed by Policy Service  
 

Name:  

Date: DD/MM/YY 

Final version of the EIA sent to Policy Service �  

Decision information sent to Policy Service �  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 60



For publication

Annual Housing Revenue Account Rent (HRA) and Service Charge 
Setting Review (HC000)

For publication 

1.0 Purpose of report

1.1 To set rent and service charge levels for 2019/20.

2.0 Recommendations

It is recommended that:

2.1 For 2019/20 individual social rents be set based on the 
current National Social Rent Policy, giving a cash rent 
decrease of 1.0% with effect from 1 April 2019. 

2.2 For 2019/20 and onwards, where a social rent property is re-
let to a new or transferring tenant the rent level be increased 
to the target rent for that property.

Meeting: Cabinet

Date: 15 January 2019

Cabinet portfolio: Cabinet Member for Homes and Customers

Report by: Assistant Director - Housing 
Director of Finance and Resources 

Page 61

Agenda Item 8



2.3 For 2019/20 individual affordable rents be set based on the 
current National Social Rent Policy, giving a cash rent decrease 
of 1.0% with effect from 1 April 2019.

2.4 For 2019/20 and onwards, where an affordable rent property 
is re-let to a new or transferring tenant the rent level be set by 
reference to 80% of the market rent for a similar property 
prevailing at the time of re-letting.

2.5 The true costs of delivering services should be passed onto 
tenants.  Therefore, service charges should be increased to 
ensure services break even. This was agreed by Cabinet 26 
January 2016. It is recommended that charges be reviewed 
and the following revised levels be agreed for:

a) Heating service charges (Sheltered Schemes) – recommend 
a charge of £17.60 per week (1 bed); £18.10 per week (2 
bed); £18.60 per week (3 bed)  

b) Garage rents – recommend a charge of £7.20 per week

c) Garage Sites – recommend a charge of £53.30 per annum 
(Shale); £67.00 per annum (Asphalt); £73.40 per annum 
(Other)

d) Tenants Metered Water Charges – recommend an average 
charge of £3.49 per week

e) Garden Assistance Scheme – recommend a charge of £3.54 
per week (Grass Cut only); £0.69 per week (Hedge Cut 
only); £4.23 per week (Grass and Hedge Cut)

f) Sheltered Scheme Service Charge – recommend a charge 
of £12.60 per week

g) Sheltered Scheme Careline and Support Charge – 
recommend a charge of £8.00 per week (for non-funded 
tenants) 

Page 62



h)  Careline Response – recommend a charge of £6.00 per 
week (Monitor and Response including equipment rental in 
Chesterfield for self-funded clients) 

i) Careline Response and Support Service – recommend a 
charge of £8.75 per week (Monitor, Response and support 
service including equipment rental for self-funded clients)

j) Careline monitoring service only – recommend a charge of 
£3.67 per week (available to customers in the Derbyshire 
Dales District) 

k) Support Service only – recommend a charge of £2.75 per 
week (within Chesterfield for self-funded clients)

l) Careline monitoring service only – recommend a charge of 
£1.75 per week (for other social landlords) 

m) Charges in respect of Community Rooms – no increase 
recommended

n)  Communal Staircase Cleaning – recommend a charge of 
£2.05 per week

o) Tenant Home Contents Insurance Premium Tax – no 
increase recommended 

2.6 That the Director of Finance and Resources, in consultation 
with the Assistant Director – Housing are given delegated 
authority to implement any variation of rent during the 
2019/20 financial year as necessary to take account of  the 
adjustments referred to at paragraph 3.15..

3.0 Report Detail 

Background

3.1 The council is required to keep a separate Account for its 
activities as a housing landlord.  This is called the Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA).  The HRA is closely governed by the 

Page 63



Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and by 
Determinations made under this Act by DCLG.

3.2 As a consequence of the HRA self-financing regime, we are 
required to ensure that our HRA Business Plan is financially 
viable, delivers reasonable standards for tenants and 
maintains at least the minimum Decent Homes Standard.

3.3 Future investment in the Housing Service and the housing 
stock is largely funded through income from the properties 
and is therefore directly influenced by decisions on rent 
levels, additional borrowing or the use of cash reserves.

3.4 Social housing rents are set according to the Government’s 
National Social Rent Policy and the Welfare Reform and Work 
Act 2016.

3.5 In accordance with this legislation, from the 4 April 2016, 
Chesterfield Borough Council housing rents (social and 
affordable) for existing tenants have decreased by 1% 
annually from the chargeable rent for each individual 
property at the 8 July 2015.  The current policy specifies a 1% 
reduction in each year, the final reduction being in April 2019.  
Prior to April 2016, rents had been allowed to rise by RPI + 
0.5% and then for April 2015 only CPI + 1%.

3.6 In addition where a property is re-let during the financial year 
(and where it is not already at target rent), the new tenant’s 
rent level can continue to be increased to the target rent for 
that property. The target rent however has also decreased by 
1% per annum, as the target rent is the relevant rent at the 8 
July 2015.  This policy will also continue in each year until April 
2019.

3.7 Members previously agreed these policies in a report to 
Cabinet on 26 January 2016.

Page 64



3.8 From April 2020 and for the following four financial years 
(until March 2025), social housing rents will increase by CPI 
plus 1% in accordance with the National Social Rent Policy as 
set out in the Social Housing Green Paper (August 2018).

Rent Setting for 2019/20

3.9 Therefore in line with the aforementioned, it is recommended 
that for 2019/20 all local authority social rents will decrease by 
1%. This is a cash decrease of 1% in 2019/20 (excluding the 
effect of Right to Buy sales losses), but a real decrease of 3.4% 
based on CPI in September 2018 of 2.4% or 3.8% if based on 
RPI of 3.3% at the same date.

3.10 Therefore the impact of this decrease across all existing 
properties in the housing stock is an average actual decrease 
for 2019/20 of £0.77 per week on a 52 week basis.  

3.11 This is only an average actual monetary decrease and because 
rents will be calculated for each individual address, some 
rents will reduce by more than the average but conversely 
some rents will reduce by a lower amount.  The lowest change 
is a decrease of £0.57 per week and the highest a decrease of 
£1.24 per week (this is an affordable rent property), both 
based on a 52 week basis.  The highest social rent decrease is 
£1.02 per week. 

This gives an average rent in 2019/20 of £75.83 per week.

3.12 Members should note that 2019/20 is a 53 week rent year (the 
first two days of the first week of the 2020/21 financial year sit 
in the 2019/20 rental year).  

3.13 In accordance with the Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016, 
rents for 2019/20 (the final year of the 4 year rent reduction 
covered in this legislation) must be set at no more than 99% 
of the previous year’s rent (2018/19).  The 53rd week in 

Page 65



2019/20 will mean that tenants will pay 100.9% of the 2018/19 
rent if no action is taken.  

3.14 Therefore, to address this in 2019/20 we will adjust the 
accounts for rental income on a daily basis (366 days).  This 
adjustment is needed only for one year, as rents will increase 
from 2020/21 onwards. This means that the rental income 
that relates to the 2020/21 financial year (3 days 1st, 2nd and 
3rd April 2020) will sit in the 2020/21 accounts and tenants will 
therefore pay 99% of the rents from 2018/19.  This is purely 
an accounting practice and will not affect how much tenants 
pay and when.

3.15 This approach is one that is suggested by the LGA. MHCLG are 
aware of the position and that it affects all social landlords.  
They have indicated to the LGA that it is for landlords to 
satisfy themselves of the application of the Welfare Reform 
and Work Act 2016, but have also established a Working Party 
to consider this.

If at a later date guidance is given contrary to our approach a 
variation of rent may need to be made during the 2019/20 
financial year, and it is recommended that any decision on 
this is delegated to the Director of Finance and Resources in 
consultation with the Assistant Director – Housing.

Service Charges

3.16 A detailed consideration of possible increases to heating 
charges, garage rents, garage site rents, the garden assistance 
scheme, tenants water charges, community room charges and 
Wardens Services is set out in Appendix 1.

Rent, Fee and Charges Summary

3.17 The table below shows the annual impact of the 
recommended rent decrease and fee and charge increases 

Page 66



(set out in Appendix 1), on the 2019/20 year-end balance 
available:

Description Additional Income in 2019/20    
(£)

Heating Service Charge 2,710

Garage Rents 30,170

Garage Sites 1,380

Water Charges 240

Garden Assistance Scheme 100

Community Room Hire _

Communal Staircase Cleaning 5,640

Sheltered Scheme Support Charge 2,330

Careline Response & Support 24,450

Total of Proposed Increases 67,020

Rent Reduction (355,000)

Total of Proposed Decreases (355,000)

Net Total of Proposals (Decrease) (287,980)

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 The financial implications are an intrinsic element of this 
report.

5.0 Legal and data protection implications

5.1 The Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 states that from April 
2016 and in each of the following three years ‘Registered 
providers of social housing must secure that the amount of 
rent payable in a relevant year by the tenant of their social 
housing in England is 1% less than the amount that was 
payable by the tenant in the preceding 12 months’

Page 67



5.2 The council’s Local Government and Regulatory Law Manager 
(Monitoring Officer) is satisfied that there is nothing contained 
within the Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 that would 
prevent the calculating of rents for 2019/20 based on the 
recommendation at paragraphs 3.12 to 3.15 of this report. 

6.0 Risk management

7.0 Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA)

7.1 In setting the National Social Rent Policy within the Welfare 
Reform and Work Act, an Equalities Impact Assessment has 
been carried out nationally.  This is attached at Appendix 2.

7.2 Overall this policy has no impact on the majority of social 
housing tenants as they have their rent paid by Housing 
Benefit or Universal Credit.  The remaining proportion of 
social tenants who do not have a high income will benefit 
from lower rent payments over the duration of the policy.  

7.3 The impact on tenants with protected characteristics has been 
considered when setting fees and charges and where possible 
these have been minimised to mitigate any negative impact. 

Description of 
the Risk

Impact Likelihood Mitigating Action Impact Likelihood

Universal Credit 
changes tenants 
failure to pay 
rent  Enhanced 
debts and costs 
of recovery

High High Sign tenants up 
to direct debits 

An increased 
assumption for 
bad debt 
provision has 
been made 
within the HRA 
Business Plan for 
2018/19

High Medium/
High

Page 68



8.0 Recommendations

It is recommended that:

8.1 For 2019/20 individual social rents be set based on the 
current National Social Rent Policy, giving a cash rent 
decrease of 1.0% with effect from 1 April 2019. 

8.2 For 2019/20 and onwards, where a social rent property is re-
let to a new or transferring tenant the rent level be increased 
to the target rent for that property.

8.3 For 2019/20 individual affordable rents be set based on the 
current National Social Rent Policy, giving a cash rent 
decrease of 1.0% with effect from 1 April 2019.

8.4 For 2019/20 and onwards, where an affordable rent property 
is re-let to a new or transferring tenant the rent level be set by 
reference to 80% of the market rent for a similar property 
prevailing at the time of re-letting.

8.5 The true costs of delivering services should be passed onto 
tenants.  Therefore, service charges should be increased to 
ensure services break even. This was agreed by Cabinet 26 
January 2016. It is recommended that charges be reviewed 
and the following revised levels be agreed for:

a) Heating service charges (Sheltered Schemes) – recommend 
a charge of £17.60 per week (1 bed); £18.10 per week (2 
bed); £18.60 per week (3 bed)  

b) Garage rents – recommend a charge of £7.20 per week

c) Garage Sites – recommend a charge of £53.30 per annum 
(Shale); £67.00 per annum (Asphalt); £73.40 per annum 
(Other)

Page 69



d) Tenants Metered Water Charges – recommend an average 
charge of £3.49 per week

e) Garden Assistance Scheme – recommend a charge of £3.54 
per week (Grass Cut only); £0.69 per week (Hedge Cut 
only); £4.23 per week (Grass and Hedge Cut)

f) Sheltered Scheme Service Charge – recommend a charge 
of £12.60 per week

g) Sheltered Scheme Careline and Support Charge – 
recommend a charge of £8.00 per week (for non-funded 
tenants) 

h)  Careline Response – recommend a charge of £6.00 per 
week (Monitor and Response including equipment rental in 
Chesterfield for self-funded clients) 

i) Careline Response and Support Service – recommend a 
charge of £8.75 per week (Monitor, Response and support 
service including equipment rental for self-funded clients)

j) Careline monitoring service only – recommend a charge of 
£3.67 per week (available to customers in the Derbyshire 
Dales District) 

k) Support Service only – recommend a charge of £2.75 per 
week (within Chesterfield for self-funded clients)

l) Careline monitoring service only – recommend a charge of 
£1.75 per week (for other social landlords) 

m) Charges in respect of Community Rooms – no increase 
recommended

n)  Communal Staircase Cleaning – recommend a charge of 
£2.05 per week

o) Tenant Home Contents Insurance Premium Tax – no 
increase recommended 

Page 70



8.6 That the Director of Finance and Resources, in consultation 
with the Assistant Director – Housing are given delegated 
authority to implement any variation of rent during the 
2019/20 financial year as necessary  to take account of  the 
adjustments referred to at paragraph 3.15.

9.0 Reasons for recommendations

9.1 To enable the council to set the level of council house rents in 
accordance with Government guidelines.

9.2 To enable the council to set service charges for 2019/20 and 
to ensure that the cost of delivering services continues to 
break even.

9.3 To contribute to the council’s Corporate Priority ‘To improve 
the quality of life for local people’.

Page 71



Decision information

Key decision number 850
Wards affected ALL
Links to Council Plan 
priorities

‘To improve the quality of life for 
local people’ and ‘To provide 
value for money services’

Document information

Report author Contact number/email
Alison Craig 345156 / 

alison.craig@chesterfield.gov.uk
Background documents
These are unpublished works which have been relied on to a 
material extent when the report was prepared.

This must be made available to the public for up to 4 years.
Appendices to the report
Appendix 1 Service Charge Increase
Appendix 2 EIA

Page 72



1

APPENDIX 1

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT SERVICE CHARGES 2019/20

1.0 DISTRICT AND GROUP HEATING

1.1 General

1.1.1 Tenants linked to group heating schemes (sheltered housing schemes) 
pay for heat through a Service Charge.  Service charges, paid with the 
rent, apply to all tenants linked to group heating schemes.  The average 
charge for this service in 2018/19 was £17.67 per week over 52 weeks. 
VAT is not currently payable on service charges.

1.1.2 Heating charges are not eligible for Housing Benefit or the housing 
element of Universal Credit.

1.1.3 It is proposed that in order for the group heating schemes to continue to 
breakeven in 2019/20 the charges are increased by 2.5% as detailed in 
the table below.

Current Charge Revised Charge Increase in 
2019/20

1 bedroom £17.18 per week £17.60 per week 42 pence per wk
2 bedroom £17.67 per week £18.10 per week 43 pence per wk
3 bedroom £18.18 per week £18.60 per week 42 pence per wk

2.0 GARAGE RENTS & GARAGE SITES

2.1 Income streams from both garage rents and garage site rents currently 
cover expenditure. However, capital improvements to sites are planned in 
future years. Therefore, it is proposed to increase the charges as detailed 
in the table below (7.5% on all charges).

            
Service Current Charge Revised Charge Actual Increase 

in 2019/20

Garage Rents

          

£6.70 per week £7.20 per week 50 pence per 

week 

Garage Site – Shale 

Surface

£49.60 per annum £53.30 per annum £3.70 per annum

Page 73



2

Garage Site - Asphalt 

Surface

£62.40 per annum £67.00 per annum £4.60 per annum

Garage Site - Other £68.30 per annum £73.40 per annum £5.10 per annum

2.2 Garage Rents are not eligible for Housing Benefit or the housing element 
of Universal Credit.

3.0 WATER CHARGES 

3.1 Members previously agreed to review charges to tenants with a metered 
water supply (in some sheltered schemes) annually as part of the review 
of service charges.

3.2 In order to maintain a breakeven position it is proposed to increase 
charges by 3.5% (the estimated inflationary increase on water rates for 
2019/20). This gives an average increase from £3.37 per week to £3.49 
per week on a 52 week basis. 

3.3 Water charges are not eligible for Housing Benefit or the housing element 
of Universal Credit.

4.0 GARDEN ASSISTANCE SCHEME

4.1 The current contract for this work commenced in April 2018 with a new 
contractor (SpirePride).  

4.2 In order to comply with the Equality Act 2010 we provide the service free 
of charge to disabled people.  

4.3 The cost of providing the service to any eligible disabled service users will 
be met from the HRA Working Balance, with the remainder of the users 
being charged the appropriate service charge as per the table below. The 
contract price is set to increase by 3.2% with effect from 1st April 2019 and 
it is proposed to pass this increase onto all paying clients.

Current Charge Revised Charge Increase in 
2019/20

Grass Cut £3.43 per week £3.54 per week 11 pence per wk
Hedge Cut £0.67 per week £0.69 per week 2 pence per wk
Grass & Hedge 
Cut

£4.10 per week £4.23 per week 13 pence per wk

Page 74



3

4.4 Garden Assistance charges are not eligible for Housing Benefit or the 
housing element of Universal Credit.

5.0 COMMUNITY ROOMS

5.1 Housing Services manage 6 community rooms at various locations across 
the Borough.  Usage currently varies between the venues, with income 
not meeting the costs associated with the maintenance and management 
of these facilities.  Some of the venues have been refurbished in 2017/18 
and 2018/19, with 3 other venues still to be reviewed. 

5.2 Enterprise and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee are currently undertaking a 
review of Community Rooms and the outcome of this review will assist in 
making recommendations on the future strategic direction the 3 remaining 
venues.  

 
5.3 Charges for the hire of community rooms are in accordance with the table 

at 5.3 below.  Bookings are offered at a fixed price for the usage of the 
rooms per slot:

 9.00am to 1.00pm
 1.00pm to 5.00pm
 5.00pm to 9.00pm

[

5.4 As usage remains low, it is not proposed to increase the charges in 
2019/20.

Type of Group Comments Charge for per slot
Tenant and Resident 
Group

Groups which work on 
behalf of members of the 
community

Nil Charge

Councillor Surgeries Surgeries run by 
Chesterfield BC or 
Derbyshire CC Members

Nil charge

Activities for the benefit of 
vulnerable people and for 
which funding is not 
available

For example, preparation 
and distribution of food 
hampers to vulnerable 
people

Nil charge

Activities for the benefit of 
local people

Activities where a charge 
can be made for the activity

£8.00

Charitable Organisations Those with a charitable 
status and registration 
number 

£8.00

Support Groups Groups which support 
vulnerable or 
disadvantaged people and 
which are non-profit making

£8.00

Other non-commercial 
groups

Including statutory 
organisations who use the 

£12.00

Page 75



4

premises e.g. use of Polling 
Stations or parties

Commercial Organisations Other organisations £20.00

 

6.0 COMMUNAL STAIRCASE CLEANING

6.1 The contract for cleaning communal staircases is carried out by the in-
house Building Cleaning ISP.  The inflation on this contract is based on 
the increase in the Real Living Wage, which is 2.86% from April 2019.

6.2 In order that this service continues to recover its costs it is proposed to 
increase the weekly charge to tenants by 2.86% from 1st April 2019. The 
weekly charge increases from £1.99 to £2.05 per week. 

6.3 Communal Staircase Cleaning charges are eligible for Housing Benefit 
and the housing element of Universal Credit.

7.0 TENANT HOME CONTENT INSURANCE PREMIUM TAX

7.1 There has been no further increase in Insurance Premium Tax since June 
2017 when it was set at 12%. Therefore, it is proposed to leave this 
charge unchanged for 2019/20 in order that this service continues to 
recover its costs.

7.2 The tax is recovered weekly from tenants as part of their Home Contents 
Insurance Premium, the amount charged will depend on their individual 
level of home contents cover and is not eligible for Housing Benefit or the 
housing element of Universal Credit.

8.0 SHELTERED SCHEME SERVICE CHARGE

8.1 In order to maintain a breakeven position it is proposed to increase 
charges by 2.5% from £12.30 to £12.60 per week. The charge applies 
to all sheltered housing schemes and will continue to be reviewed 
annually.

9.0 CARELINE RESPONSE AND SUPPORT SERVICES CHARGE

9.1 Careline Response and Support Services for older and vulnerable people 
are currently provided to funded and non-funded customers. For those 
eligible for funding, there are two separate contracts with DCC – Floating 
Visiting Support and Careline. In addition tenants and residents who 
cannot access funding from DCC can pay for the service.

9.2 The contract with DCC for the Careline Monitoring Service is expected to 
be extended up to 31 March 2021 with the terms not yet agreed.  During 

Page 76



5

the time leading up this date, DCC will be carrying out a consultation 
exercise with Service Users and Providers to determine its future funding 
provision.  The Floating Visiting Support Service contract has been 
extended up to 31 October 2019 on the existing terms with a retendering 
exercise being carried out by DCC during 2019. 

9.3 Sheltered Schemes (Careline and Response Service)  – For self-
funded customers living in a sheltered scheme, it is proposed that the 
current weekly charge for the Careline Response and Support Service is 
increased by 1.91% from £7.85 to £8.00 per week.

9.4 Support Service – For self-funded customers, it is proposed that the 
current weekly charge for the Support Service is increased by 10% from 
£2.50 to £2.75 per week

9.5 Careline Response –For self-funded customers, it is proposed that the 
current weekly charge for the Careline Response service is increased by 
4.90% from £5.72 to £6.00 per week.  This service charge still remains 
low in comparison to neighbouring local authorities and other providers in 
this market.

Chesterfield Borough Council monitors a number of alarms in Derbyshire 
Dales.  Most of the alarms were provided by Dales Housing, and the 
service is monitor only (no response or falls recovery service is provided 
for these customers).  It is proposed that the current weekly charge for 
this monitoring service be increased by 4.90% from £3.50 to £3.67 per 
week.  

A number of agreements are also in place between the Council and 
Housing Associations in the Borough to monitor alarms.  It is proposed 
that the current weekly charge for Housing Association customers be 
increased by 6.06% from £1.65 to £1.75 per week.

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 79

dolbya
Text Box
                                                APPENDIX C



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



For Publication

Collection Fund Revised Estimates 2018/19 (J000)

For publication 

1.0 Purpose of report

1.1 To agree the revised estimate of the surplus or deficit on the 
Collection Fund for 2018/19 so that it can be shared amongst 
the major precepting authorities in 2019/20.

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 That the estimated deficit on the Council Tax of £27,135 be 
agreed and allocated to the major precepting authorities as 
detailed in Appendix A.

3.0 Background

3.1 The Local Government Finance Act 1992 requires Billing 
Authorities to calculate the estimated surplus or deficit on the 
Council Tax elements of the Collection Fund each year. 

Meeting: Cabinet

Date: 15th January 2019

Cabinet portfolio: Deputy Leader

Report by: Director of Finance & Resources

Page 85

Agenda Item 9



3.2 The Act prescribes that the estimated surplus or deficit should 
be allocated to the major precepting authorities in proportion 
to their precepts and that the major preceptors should then 
take it into account when calculating their Council Taxes for the 
following financial year.

4.0 Considerations

4.1 Council Tax Transactions

4.1.1 The estimate of Council Tax income for the year 
2018/19 is £49.7m. 

4.1.2 The accumulated bad debt provision has been 
estimated at £2,317,350.

4.1.3 In setting the Council Tax for 2018/19 it was originally 
estimated that there would be a surplus from the 
previous year of £523,799 to allocate.  However, at the 
end of 2017/18 the surplus was £477,672. The shortfall 
of £46,127 will be allocated in 2019/20.

4.1.4 The precepts on the fund in 2018/19 total £49.3m. 

4.1.5 The net result of all of the above items is to produce an 
estimated deficit of £27,135 on the Fund at 31st March 
2019. Appendix A shows how the deficit is to be shared 
between the major precepting authorities in 2019/20. 
The majority (74.20%) goes to the County Council. The 
Borough Council receives 10.21% of the deficit i.e. 
£2,770.

5.0 Legal and data protection implications

Page 86



5.1 The Local Government Finance Act 1992 requires Billing 
Authorities to calculate the estimated surplus or deficit on the 
Council Tax elements of the Collection Fund each year.

6.0 Alternative options

6.1 None.

7.0 Recommendations

7.1 That the estimated deficit on the Council Tax of £27,135 be 
agreed and allocated to the major precepting authorities as 
detailed in Appendix A.

8.0 Reasons for recommendations

8.1 To fulfil a statutory requirement and to feed into the budget 
setting process for 2019/20.

Page 87



Decision information

Key decision number 855
Wards affected All
Links to Council Plan 
priorities

To become financially self-
sufficient by 2020, so we can 
continue to deliver the 
services our Communities 
need.

Document information

Report author Contact number/email
Richard Staniforth 01246 345456

richard.staniforth@chesterfield.gov.uk

Background documents
These are unpublished works which have been relied on to a 
material extent when the report was prepared.

This must be made available to the public for up to 4 years.

Appendices to the report
Appendix A Revised Collection Fund Estimates 2018/19

Page 88

mailto:richard.staniforth@chesterfield.gov.uk


4

APPENDIX A

REVISED COLLECTION FUND ESTIMATES 2018/19

Council Tax
£

Surplus/(deficit) b/fwd 477,672

Income:
Gross Debit 49,700,000

Reduction/(increase) in bad debt provision (358,194)
49,341,806

49,819,478

Expenditure:
Parishes (434,068)

Chesterfield BC (4,654,209)

Derbyshire CC (36,986,068)

Derbyshire Fire & Rescue (2,173,459)
Police & Crime Commissioner for 
Derbyshire (5,598,809)

(49,846,613)

Estimated Surplus/(Deficit) (27,135)

Share of Surplus / (Deficit): % £
Chesterfield BC 10.21 (2,770)
Derbyshire CC 74.20 (20,135)

Derbyshire Fire & Rescue 4.36 (1,183)
Police & Crime Commissioner for 
Derbyshire 11.23 (3,047)

Total Surplus/(Deficit) 100% (27,135)

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Delegation Report
	6 Minutes of the Sheffield City Region Mayoral Combined Authority
	7 Revised Corporate and Housing ASB Policies Following Stakeholder Consultation
	Appendix 1 - Corporate ASB Policy 5 February 2019
	Appendix 2 - Housing Services ASB Policy 5 February 2019
	Appendix 3 - Summary Consultation Responses
	Appendix 4 - Preliminary EIA Form

	8 Annual HRA Rent and Service Charge Setting
	Appendix 1 for Annual HRA Rent and Service Charge Setting
	Appendix 2 for Annual HRA Rent and Service Charge Setting

	9 Collection Fund Revised Estimates 2018/19
	Appendix 1 for Collection Fund Revised Estimates 2018/19




